#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SAMMY LEE LAWSON,	)	
Petitioner,	)	FSC CASE NO. SC06-2423
VS.	)	150 011521(0.5000 2.25
	)	FIFTH DCA CASE NO. 5D05-2312
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Respondent.)		
	)	

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

# MERIT BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

TOMISLAV D. GOLIK Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0010104 444 Seabreeze Boulevard, Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Phone: (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

On April 5, 2004, the State filed Informations in separate cases charging Petitioner with one count of Possession of Cannabis with Intent to Sell, and one count of Sale of Cannabis in each case (Record pages 11-12, 106-107).

On June 1, 2004, Petitioner signed a Waiver of Rights and Agreement to Enter Plea as to both cases (Record pages 23-27). Under the agreement, Petitioner plead nolo contendere to each count, each case, and was adjudicated guilty as to each count, each case, and received concurrent sentences of 5 years, Department of Corrections, suspended upon the successful completion of three years drug offender probation (Record page 23).

On June 11, 2004, the Honorable Mark J. Hill, Circuit Court Judge, signed the orders on both cases adjudicating Petitioner guilty on all counts, placing him on drug offender probation under the terms of the plea agreement, and assessing fines and costs (Record pages 35-39, 120-124). Condition 40 of Petitioner's probation read as follows, with none of the boxes checked:

You must enter into, participate in, and successfully complete a **G** substance abuse **G** alcohol abuse **G** Drug Abuse **G** Other \_\_\_\_\_\_ evaluation and any treatment program subsequently prescribed by the treatment agency to which you are referred, including aftercare program, and be financially responsible for any treatment rendered. (**TASC**)

(Record, page 38).

On January 21, 2005, an Affidavit of Violation of Drug Offender Probation was filed with the court by Probation Officer John McSweeney (McSweeney) alleging that Petitioner had violated his probation by failing to pay the \$50.00 per month cost of supervision and was \$400.00 in arrears, and by failing to successfully complete or remain in the treatment program (Record pages 44-47).

On April 19, 2005, the State filed an Amended Affidavit of Violation of Drug Offender Probation, and a violation of condition 5, a new law violation, alleging Petitioner sold, and possessed with intent to sell, crack cocaine within 1,000 feet of a church (Record page 59).

On June 1, 2005, a violation of probation hearing was held before Judge Hill (Record Vol. II pages 152-166). The State first called McSweeney to testify.

McSweeney stated he supervised Petitioner, including instructing him on the conditions of his probation on July 16, 2004 (Record Vol. II, pages 152-153).

McSweeney further testified Petitioner's probation included attending classes and completing the drug program at the Western Judicial Center (Western) under condition 40 (Record Vol. II page 153).

The Court took judicial notice of Petitioner's signature on the conditions of probation in each case ( Record Vol. II page 154).

McSweeney was informed on November 23, 2004, that Petitioner had missed a session and was terminated from the program at Western (Record Vol. II page 154). McSweeney stated he then spoke to a representative from Western and had Petitioner reinstated under the condition that he miss no more classes (Record Vol. II page 154). McSweeney informed Petitioner of his reinstatement and the condition that he was to miss no more classes (Record Vol. II page 155). McSweeney also testified that the standards at Western called for termination after three absences (Record Vol. II page 155).

The court then questioned McSweeney regarding Petitioner's failure to pay costs of supervision (Record Vol. II page 156). McSweeney stated that Petitioner had not paid any money towards that, and that he had discussed it with Petitioner, who had, according to McSweeney, difficulty in obtaining employment (Record Vol. II pages 156, 158).

At that point in the hearing, the State announced that it would not be pursuing the violation of condition 5 at that time due to an ongoing police case related to the allegations against Petitioner (Record Vol. II pages 156-157).

The State then called Linda Carr (Carr), who testified that Petitioner was a client of Western, that he had enrolled in the program in August and had been

assigned to a substance abuse program (Record Vol. II pages 159-160).

Carr testified that Petitioner had several absences, related to transportation difficulties. She testified that he was terminated after nine absences in November, 2004, but that Western was trying to work with him, so he was reinstated with the agreement that he miss no more classes (Record Vol. II pages 160-161).

According to Carr, Petitioner then attended seven classes consecutively before he was absent again, resulting in his termination on January 19, 2005, per the agreement (Record Vol. II page 161). Carr further testified that Petitioner knew that if he was terminated it would violate his probation (Record Vol. II page 161).

Carr testified under cross-examination that Petitioner's program was for a duration of twelve classes and that she was aware of his transportation problems (Record Vol. II page 162).

Petitioner then testified. As for his failure to pay the supervisory fees,

Petitioner stated that he was unemployed due to a pending jail sentence of 120

days (Record Vol. II page 163). Petitioner also testified he missed the last class after attending seven consecutive because he was unable to find a ride, although he did try to call but was only able to get through to an answering machine (Record Vol. II page 164).

Under examination by the defense counsel, Petitioner was asked about his

earlier missed classes.

MR. NACKE: As far as missing those classes at Western Judicial, you

made seven and missed one. What was the reason for

that?

PETITIONER: I didn't have a ride. I called, but I kept getting an

answering machine.

(Record Vol. II 165-164).

BY THE COURT: You missed nine classes.

PETITIONER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Tell me why you missed nine classes.

PETITIONER: Well, the first time I missed three classes, I figured

they had already kicked me out. Then I talked to my probation officer. He said to call back to see if I could get back into the class. I called back, and they accepted me back into the program. I tried to like finish all of them. Every week - - I had one class a week. I was going to all my classes. I just

missed one. I knew I had missed a class.

THE COURT: I'm asking you why you missed nine classes

before you were given an extra chance.

PETITIONER: I have no idea, sir. No transportation.

(Record Vol. II 164).

Petitioner testified that after he initially missed three classes, he believed he had been dismissed from the program (Record Vol. II page 164). He further testified that his probation officer then instructed him that he would be readmitted, and attended seven weeks of classes, one per week, before his final absence

(Record Vol. II 164). He stated his earlier absences were from lack of transportation (Record Vol. II page 164).

Upon completion of Petitioner's testimony, counsel for Petitioner argued that there was no violation as no time limit had been set in the order of probation for completion of the class (Record Vol. II page 165). Counsel further argued that Petitioner t could have entered and completed another program, not just at Western, and that his failure to pay costs was due to an inability to pay.

The Court found in its oral pronouncement that Petitioner's testimony was not credible and he was in substantial violation of his probation (Record Vol. II page 165). The Court imposed the suspended sentences, with credit for time served and gain time (Record Vol. II pages 165-166). The Court's judgment and sentence was filed on June 9, 2005, and the order revoking drug offender probation was filed on June 28, 2005 (Record pages 72-75, 78, 143-146, 147).

On June 29, 2005, Petitioner filed a Motion to Mitigate Sentence with the Trial Court (Record page 79-80).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on June 27, 2005 and the Public Defender was appointed to represent Petitioner on appeal (Record pages 77, 148-149).

On November 3, 2006, the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion in this case, holding that probation conditions were subject to common sense interpretation, and certifying conflict with the decision in other courts of the State. The Fifth District Court of Appeal certified its decision to be in direct conflict with Quintero v. State, 902 So.2d 236 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Singleton v. State, 891 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Davis v. State, 862 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Lynom v. State, 816 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); O'Neal v. State, 801 So.2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); Dunkin v. State, 780 So.2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); Butler v. State, 775 So.2d 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); and Salzano v. State, 664 So.2d 23 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

Additionally, the Fifth District Court of Appeal also certified the following question as being of great public important:

DOES A TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING A DEFENDANT, WHO IS DISCHARGED FROM A COURT-ORDERED DRUG TREATMENT PROGRAM FOR NONATTENDANCE, IN WILLFUL VIOLATION OF PROBATION WHEN THE SENTENCING COURT DID NOT SPECIFY THE NUMBER OF ATTEMPTS THE DEFENDANT WOULD HAVE TO SUCCESSFULLY COMPLETE THE PROGRAM AND IMPOSE A TIME PERIOD FOR COMPLIANCE?

Lawson v. State, 941 So.2d 485, 490 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

The Fifth District did acknowledge that the State had not proven that Petitioners failure to pay costs was willful as they had not shows his inability to pay. Id. at 488.

It is the position of the Petitioner that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's ruling that it is within the court's discretion to determine how many chances a probation has to complete a program when no time is specified should be reversed.

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Although probation conditions do not have to be spelled out to the minutest detail, due process requires that a probationer be on notice of the conduct that can result in a violation. In the instant case the condition relating to drug treatment was capable of different interpretations and thus vague.

Furthermore, the trial court was without authority to modify or enhance the terms of probation absent a violation hearing where the probationer has been shown to have willfully and knowingly violated a term(s) of his probation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

WHETHER A TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING A DEFENDANT, WHO IS DISCHARGED FROM A COURT-ORDERED DRUG TREATMENT PROGRAM FOR NONATTENDANCE, IN WILLFUL VIOLATION OF PROBATION WHEN THE SENTENCING COURT DID NOT SPECIFY THE NUMBER OF ATTEMPTS THE DEFENDANT WOULD HAVE TO SUCCESSFULLY COMPLETE THE PROGRAM AND IMPOSE A TIME PERIOD FOR COMPLIANCE?

Although in the State of Florida, probation is considered to be a sentencing alternative and a matter of grace, McArthren v. State, 635 So.2d 1005, 1006 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) probation revocation proceedings must confirm to minimum standards of due process. Gagnon v. Sparpelli, 93 U.S. 778, 93 S.Ct. 1759, 36 L.Ed.2d 656 (1973).

The State's own witness testified that Appellant had attended seven consecutive weeks of the 12-week program during his last effort (R II 161). Therefore, the Appellant had completed well more than half of the sessions which were required, and it would be unreasonable to not consider this as a substantial percentage of the course work completed. This completion of a large number of classes successfully evidences the willingness of the Appellant to comply with the

terms of his probation and complete a drug treatment program. The Appellant's willingness to complete his program is further showed by his diligence in attending these classes after reinstatement.

#### THE CONFLICT

"It is an abuse of discretion to find a willful and substantial violation of probation where a defendant has expressed a willingness to complete or continue with a program and where the order of probation did not specify a date certain for compliance." O'Neal v. State, 801 So.2d 280 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001), citing Salzano v. State, 664 So.2d 23 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). Other cases have held that the simple lack of a specified time for completion renders a failure to complete a treatment program insufficient to establish a willful and substantial violation. Quintero v. State, 902 So.2d 236 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005), citing Mitchell v. State, 871 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Butler v. State, 775 So.2d 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); Salzano.

The case of <u>Dunkin v. State</u>, 780 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) is also telling on the issue of unsuccessful treatment attempts. In that case, the trial court specified a date by which sex offender treatment had to be completed, specifically, within the first three years of his supervision. But the Second District reversed the trial court's revocation of probation because the probation order failed to state that the treatment had to be successfully completed on the first try, or how many

chances the defendant would be given to complete the treatment successfully.

Because the Appellant made reasonable attempts to comply with the terms of the probation order and because the order of probation failed to specify a date by which the special conditions of probation were to be completed, he respectfully requests this Honorable Court to hold that the trial court abused its discretion when it ruled that the Appellant willfully and substantially violated his probation.

#### Due Process And Notice

Despite the fact that probation revocation hearings are not a critical stage of a criminal proceeding, because they involve a loss minimum of liberty, and basic safeguards of due process. This notice requires that a probationer be appraised of that conduct that will result in violation. As this Honorable Court stated earlier:

Fundamental fairness requires that a defendant be placed on notice as to what he must do or refrain from doing while on probation. A trial court has the authority to impose any valid condition of probation which would serve a useful rehabilitative purpose. <u>Hines v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 183, 85 358 So.2d 183, 185 (Fla. 1978).

As the Fifth District Court of Appeal stated in <u>Rothery</u>, It would be patently unfair to penalize a defendant for failing to follow a rule of a third party, the violation of which subjects him to revocation of his probation, where the third party does not clearly articulate the rule to the defendant. <u>Id</u> at 1259.

In explaining the confusion in the condition of the drug treatment program, it would be helpful to look at probation from a contract law point of view. Several courts in Florida interpret probation agreements as contracts. <u>Bradley v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 1001 (Fla 4th DCA 1999); <u>Tal-Mason v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 738 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

Accordingly to contract law, a term in an agreement is ambiguous when the provisions are fairly susceptible to more than one interpretation. Am. Quick Sign, Inc. v. Reinhardt, 899 So.2d 461, 465 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005); see also \*532 Barnett v. Destiny Owners Ass'n, 856 So.2d 1090, 1092 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (stating that "[I]anguage in a document is ambiguous when it is uncertain in meaning and may be fairly understood in more ways than one and is susceptible of interpretation in opposite ways"). McInerney v. Klovstad, 935 So.2d 529 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

"Insofar as contract language may be deemed ambiguous, Florida law dictates that any ambiguity will be interpreted against the party who selected the language....." First Texas Sav. Ass'n v. Comprop Inv. Props. Ltd., 752 F.Supp. 1568, 1571 (M.D.Fla.1990), citing Consol. Dev. & Eng'g Corp. v. Ortega Co., 117 Fla. 438, 158 So. 94 (1934). However, the Court finds that the absence of the term "lump sum" in the lease does not create an ambiguity. Paragraphs 7 and 27 clearly provide that the residual purchase price must be paid in full at the time of the

exercise the purchase option. <u>In re Pittman</u>, 289 B.R. 448 Bkrtcy.M.D.Fla.,2003; January 17, 2003

Turning to the issue of enhancement or modification of probation absent a showing that probationer violated the terms of his probation. This Honorable Court has addressed the issue and found that it is a double jeopardy error to modify the terms of probation, as this Honorable Court mentioned:

The trial judge even acknowledged that the new conditions would be an additional hardship. While such conditions could have been included in the initial probationary order had circumstances required, there is no question that the added conditions are more restrictive than those imposed by the initial order. Consequently, we find that the added conditions, including the no-contact condition, enhanced the terms of Lippman's original probationary sentence.

See J.C Nickens v. State, 547 So.2d 1289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), where the additional condition, while not stated in the probation order, that appellant may not even return to his own house to do yard work and maintenance was struck.

To the case at bar, we see that Petitioner was ordered to undergo a drug counseling evaluation *and any* program they recommend. It is certainly unclear from the testimony that Western Judicial was the \*only\* program that Appellant could have enrolled in. Given the vague article "any," Petitioner had all the reason to believe that he could pick and choose which program suited him better, unless,

of course, Western Judicial was the only game in town.

Furthermore, despite the Fifth District Court of Appeal's common sense ruling that Petitioner knew he needed to enroll right away, it took him two months, from June to August to start the program. Likewise, he was given two chances to complete the Western Judicial Program, and it is not apparent from the record that either his probation officer or his counselor at the program discussed any alternatives with him.

Given the facts of the case, it was unclear to Petitioner both by the language of Condition 40 of his probation as well as how it was implemented that he could have successfully enrolled in another more suitable program.

.

# **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the foregoing arguments, and the authorities cited therein, the Appellant respectfully requests that the order revoking his probation in this case be reversed, and the Appellant be restored to probation.