## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SAMMY LEE LAWSON,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC06-2423 5th DCA No. 5D05-2312

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAMELA J. KOLLER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0775990

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar Number 0618550
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
Suite 500
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(386) 238-4990
(386) 238-4997 (fax)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. The Fifth District Court of Appeal properly found that Petitioner's unwillingness to abide by the condition that he successfully complete or remain in drug treatment constituted a valid basis for violation. It is apparent that Petitioner is not amenable to treatment or supervision, his violations of his drug offender probation were conditions of willful substantial, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by revoking his probation based on the willful and substantial violation. Finally, Petitioner's advocation of a per se rule that the trial court can never find a willful and substantial violation for being terminated from a substance abuse treatment program for nonattendance where the condition does not specify the number of attempts or the time period allowed for successful completion is not in accord with Florida law.

#### ARGUMENT

## POINT OF LAW

COURT THIS SHOULD ANSWER THE CERTIFIED QUESTION THE ΙN AFFIRMATIVE AS THE TRIAL COURT DID TOM ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY REVOKING LAWSON'S PROBATION.

In Lawson v. State, 941 So. 2d 485 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), the Fifth District Court of Appeal (DCA) concluded that a trial court has the discretion to find a willful and substantial violation of probation even where a trial judge has not set time parameters for a probationer to comply with the condition of drug offender probation that he enter in, participate in, and successfully complete a substance abuse program. Id. at 491-492. Further, where it is clear that a probationer must undertake compliance with the court-ordered treatment as soon as he or she can be placed into a substance abuse program, and if a probationer fails to do so, a trial court has the discretion to revoke probation, even where additional time is remaining on his probationary period. Id. In this same vein, the trial judge also discretion to permit a probationer additional has t.he opportunities where a probationer evidences a willingness to try again. Id.

The Fifth DCA certified the following question to be a matter of great public importance:

DOES A TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING A DEFENDANT, WHO IS DISCHARGED FROM A COURT-ORDERED DRUG TREATMENT PROGRAM NONATTENDANCE, INWILLFUL VIOLATION OF PROBATION WHEN THE SENTENCING COURT DID NOT SPECIFY THE NUMBER OF ATTEMPTS THE DEFENDANT WOULD HAVE TOSUCCESSFULLY COMPLETE PROGRAM AND IMPOSE Α TIME PERIOD FOR COMPLIANCE?

<u>Lawson v. State</u>, 941 So. at 492. This Court has jurisdiction.

<u>See</u> art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v).

It is well established that "[p]robation is a matter of grace rather than right. The trial judge has broad discretionary power to grant as well as revoke probation." Diller v. State, 711 So. 2d 54, 55 (Fla. 5th DCA)(citing Robinson v. State, 442 So. 2d 284, 286 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 719 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1998)). The evidence for revocation of probation need only be sufficient to satisfy the conscience of the court that the violation occurred. Rock v. State, 749 So. 2d 566, 567 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). Before a trial court can revoke a defendant's probation, the state must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant willfully violated a substantial condition of his probation. State v. Carter, 835 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 2002); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 1138 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). As noted previously, whether a defendant's violation of probation was willful and substantial is a question of fact and will not be reversed on appeal unless an abuse of discretion is

shown. <u>Carter</u>, 835 So. 2d at 262)(citing <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

The primary goals of probation are to impose conditions so that: (1) the probationer will be rehabilitated; (2) society will be protected from future criminal violations by probationer; and (3) the crime victim's rights will protected. Woodson v. State, 864 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. dismissed, 889 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 2004); see also Grubbs v. State, 373 So. 2d 905, 909 (Fla. 1979)("Protection of the public is an important and proper consideration by the trial judge when or confinement determining whether probation should imposed."); Bernhardt v. State, 288 So. 2d 490, 494 (Fla. 1974)("It is well settled that the primary purpose of probation is to rehabilitate the individual while he is at liberty under supervision."); Spry v. State, 750 So. 2d 123, 124-125 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)("It is necessary to bear in mind the various purposes sought to be served by probation as а substitute for penitentiary custody. The freedom of the individual is only one the desiderata. Rehabilitation and public safety are  $\circ$ f others.")(quoting from Sobota v. Williard, 247 Or. 151, 427 P.2d 758, 759 (1967)); Crossin v. State, 244 So. 2d 142, 145 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971) ("The underlying purpose of probation is to give the individual a second chance to live within the rules of society and the law of the land during which time he can prove

that he will thereafter do so and become a useful member of society. A grant of probation is a matter of grace and not of right, such grant being subject to revocation at any time the court determines that the probationer has violated the terms and conditions thereof.").

A probationer who refuses to abide by his conditions should not be entitled to remain at large. Woodson, 864 So. 2d at 516; Cf. State ex rel. Roberts v. Cochran, 140 So. 2d 597, 599 (Fla. 1962)("[T]he offender is not entitled to remain at large if he persists in criminal tendencies. The trial judge who prescribes probation in lieu of immediate imprisonment is allowed a broad judicial discretion to determine whether the conditions of the probation have been violated, and, therefore, whether the revocation of probation is in order. While this discretion is not unbridled and should not be arbitrarily exercised, it is necessarily broad and extensive in order that the interests of society may be protected against a repeating offender or one who disregards the conditions stipulated for his remaining at large.)

Lawson contends that the trial court's failure to specify the number of attempts or impose a time period for compliance as part of the condition violated due process protections, in that Lawson was not given adequate notice that his failure to abide by this condition would result in a violation. Initially,

Respondent would note that this issue was never raised below, as Petitioner argued below that there was no willful violation since no specified time was given for Lawson to complete the substance abuse program, and since three years remained on his probationary term, Lawson could have sought to satisfy this condition by enrolling in another program. This is different from the due process claim raised herein, and, thus, the lack of notice argument has been unpreserved for appeal. See, e.g., Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982)("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below.") The fact that the notice issue was not included in the Fifth DCA's certified question underscores the fact that the notice issue was not raised below. As this precise challenge to Petitioner's revocation of probation was never made below, it is unpreserved for appellate review.

The Fifth DCA did address the notice issue after concluding that the contrary district court authority must be premising these decisions, *inter alia*, on the lack of sufficient notice. In <u>Lawson</u>, the Fifth DCA, relying upon <u>Ertley v. State</u>, 785 So. 2d 592 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), and <u>Britt v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), concluded that:

fair notice can be satisfied by conditions of probation that provide reasonable individuals

of common intelligence the basis to know and understand its meaning.

Lawson, 941 So. 2d at 489. In other words, probationary conditions need to be clear enough that a reasonable person can comprehend them in a common sense manner, but the conditions do not have to be so specific as to provide for every possible contingency. Obviously, it is impossible to provide for every possible contingency, so the conditions need to be flexible and workable. As noted by Justice Pariente in the context of sex offender treatment programs:

Because each treatment plan individualized, it is not always realistic trial judge to specify time parameters for completion at the time of sentencing. Nevertheless, the probation officer should clearly communicate to the defendant, both in writing and verbally, the details of the individualized specific treatment plan so that there is no question that the defendant is specifically on notice of exactly what is expected and when.

<u>Woodson</u>, 889 So. 2d at 824 (Pariente, C.J., concurring). Similarly, with substance abuse treatment, an inflexible schedule would not serve either the purpose of drug offender probation or the probationer's need for treatment.

Here, as the Fifth DCA pointed out, Lawson was well aware that he was required to successfully complete his substance abuse treatment program. As part of his plea agreement, Lawson was required to successfully complete drug offender probation.

Section 948.001(4), Florida Statutes (2005), defines drug offender probation as "a form of intensive supervision . . . with individualized treatment plans." In fact, participation in, and completion of, specialized treatment plans developed by the Department of Corrections is a primary component of drug offender probation. See § 948.20(1), Fla. Stat. (2005)("The Department of Corrections shall develop and administer a drug offender probation program which emphasizes a combination of treatment and intensive community supervision approaches and which includes provision for supervision of offenders in accordance with a specific treatment plan.").

On July 16, 2004, Lawson was advised of the conditions of his drug offender probation by his probation officer, which included condition 40, that he "enter into, participate in, and successfully complete" a [substance abuse] treatment program and "any treatment program subsequently prescribed by the treatment agency to which you are referred." Lawson began attending Western substance abuse program soon thereafter in August of 2004. However, after Lawson missed nine meetings (three absences usually resulted in termination from this program), Lawson was terminated from the program on November 23, 2004, due to lack of attendance. As the program Lawson was ordered to attend required twelve meetings and the testimony was that he missed nine of

his twelve meetings, or, in other words, that he had already missed seventy-five percent of his meetings.

Lawson's own testimony reveals that he understood he would be terminated from the program if he missed three meetings, as he claimed that one of the reasons he missed nine meetings was because he figured that he had already been kicked out after missing three meetings. Most importantly, when Lawson was advised that he could return to the program, he was put on notice that if he missed one meeting he would be terminated from the program, which would violate his probation. Furthermore, there was never any testimony or evidence that Lawson had made inquiries about other programs or attempted to reenter the Westside program.

Allowing a probationer to choose when he or she complies with the condition of probation that the probationer enter in, participate in, and successfully complete a substance abuse treatment program would not serve the goals of drug offender probation, especially where, as here, the probationer obviously requires substance abuse treatment, and even after Lawson was warned that he would be terminated and his probation violated if he missed one more meeting, Lawson still missed a meeting.

As the Fifth DCA pointed out, essentially, Lawson is arguing that he gets to decide when he submits to drug treatment and that he will decide how many chances he will have to

complete it. <u>Lawson</u> 941 So. 2d at 491. As explained by the Fifth DCA:

We simply cannot accept the perverse notion that such decisions should be left to the whim or caprice of any criminal defendant, much less one like Lawson who has twice thumbed his nose at the trial court, his drug counselor, and his probation officer.

# Id. at 491.

As noted by Lawson, the asserted conflict centers around the finding that drug offender probation can be willfully and substantially violated when a probationer is terminated from a substance abuse treatment program where there is time remaining on the probationary term. Lawson, 941 So. 2d at 487. This is so even where the date of completion or the number of attempts at compliance was not specified. Id. Lawson references several cases which hold that it is an abuse of discretion to find a willful and substantial violation based on the failure to complete a treatment program, where a defendant has expressed a willingness to complete some form of counseling, and the order did not specify the period within which to complete the program or how many chances he would be given to obtain success. See Quintero v. State, 902 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005)(trial court abused its discretion by finding willful and substantial violation for failure to complete a counseling program where no specification of time for completion); Mitchell v. State, 871 So. 2d 1040 (Fla.

2d DCA 2004) (unexcused absences from sex offender treatment offender program not willful and substantial violation where no specification when program should be completed or how many chances would be given to complete program); Dunkin v. State, 780 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); O'Neal v. State, 801 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(no willful and substantial violation where defendant failed to complete batterers program); Butler v. State, 775 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)(defendant's failure to enroll in GED classes was not a willful and substantial violation of his condition of probation where his failure to comply resulted from regarding the requirement and transportation problem, not because of a deliberate act misconduct. Further, the condition did not specify a time by which classes were to begin and the probation officer did not specify a date certain for compliance); Salzano v. State, 664 So. 2d 23 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (abuse of discretion to find willful and substantial violation for failure to complete a residential alcohol program, where defendant expressed a willingness complete some form of counseling, probation officer never explained that a condition of his community control was to complete the program and the order did not specify the period within which to complete the program or how many chances he would be given to obtain success).

A reading of the authority relied upon by Lawson reveals that some of these cases have facts which distinguish them from the instant case, while others provide very few facts, so it is impossible to distinguish them. An example of the former is found in Butler, where the failure to attend his GED classes confusion resulted from regarding the requirement transportation problems. Id. at 321. Here, there was no lack of notice, as Lawson was put on notice after he was terminated from Western the first time that if he missed another meeting, he would be terminated and his probation violated. The Quintero opinion, on the other hand, has very few facts regarding appellant's violation of the condition requiring him to undergo domestic violence intervention treatment. Id. at 236. However, assuming there is conflict and these cases are correct, and a trial court never has the discretion to find a willful and substantial violation of probation where time parameters have not been set for a probationer to comply with the condition of drug offender probation requiring successful attendance and completion of a substance abuse program, these cases are not in accord with Florida law and should be reversed.

In <u>State v. Carter</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court explained that:

In the instant case, the district court improperly applied a per se rule when it relied on Moore and Sanders in reaching its conclusion that the failure to file a single monthly report as a matter of law is not a

substantial violation, and sufficient to justify a probation revocation. holding means that under circumstances could a failure to file revocation report justify a probation. Such a per se rule strips the trial court of its obligation to assess any alleged violations in the context of a defendant's case. Trial courts must consider each violation on a case-by-case basis for a determination of whether, under the facts and circumstances, a particular violation willful and substantial and is supported by the greater weight of the evidence. In other the trial court must review the evidence to determine whether the defendant has made reasonable efforts to comply with the terms and conditions of his or her probation.

<u>Id.</u> at 261(emphasis added). It is to the trial court that the discretion to find a willful violation is granted as "[t]he trial court is in a better position to identify the probation violator's motive, intent, and attitude and assess whether the violation is both willful and substantial." <u>State v. Carter</u>, 835 So. 2d at 262.

Thus, a per se rule prohibiting in all cases a trial court from finding a willful violation of drug offender probation merely because the court did not specify the number of attempts or impose a time period for compliance is inconsistent with the requirement that a trial judge consider each violation on a case-by-case basis for a determination that a particular violation is willful and substantial. In fact, the instant case is illustrative of just how such a per se rule could thwart the

goals of drug offender probation. Here, Lawson was terminated for missing nine meetings (where three absences usually required termination), and when he was allowed to return, he was specifically told he could not miss one meeting or he would be terminated from the program and his probation violated. The trial judge in this case specifically found Lawson's reasons for his absences to be unpersuasive. Thus, being fully on notice of the potential consequences, the termination was his fault.

As this Court pointed out in <u>State v. Carter</u>, 835 So. 2d at 261: "[t]he probation system operates under a tremendous workload. In order to maintain its effectiveness, all participants, including the defendants, must comply with the requirements imposed upon them." Petitioner willfully and substantially failed to comply with the court ordered condition which is at the heart of drug offender probation, i.e., substance abuse treatment. Accordingly, on the merits, the Fifth District's decision in this case should be affirmed.

Conditions of probation are not aspirations, and the timely fulfilling of these conditions is a prerequisite to remaining on probation. Probation does not anticipate an amnesty or vacation period where a probationer is not required to do anything to meet its requirements. The condition that a drug offender enter in, participate in, and successfully complete a substance abuse treatment program puts a probationer on notice what is expected

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